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LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL
rhePdolice

dan

Fll‘emen’s pisability and pension Fund

140 East Town / Columbus, Ohio 43215-5125 / (614) 228-2975

June 26, 1997

Dear Chairman and Members of the Board of Trustees:

We are pleased to submit to you the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the Police and
Firemen’s Disability and Pension Fund of Ohio (the Fund) for the year ended December 31, 1996. This CAFR
was prepared to aid interested parties in assessing the Fund’s status at December 31, 1996, and its results for the
year then ended. The report is divided into five sections: an Introductory Section which contains this Letter of
Transmittal, along with the identification of the administrative organization of the Fund; a Financial Section
which includes the Independent Auditors’ Report and the financial statements; an Actuarial Section which
includes significant data pertaining to the Fund; and an Investment Section which contains the investment report,
portfolio summary, and the investment policy and guidelines. The Investment Section is not required but has been
included for purposes of added analysis.

Accounting System and Internal Controls

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applicable to
governmental units, including the pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).

The principles promulgated by Statement No. 6 of the National Council On Governmental Accounting
(predecessor to GASB) are used in the Fund's accounting and subsequent reporting of financial activities. The
accrual basis of accounting is used to record all financial transactions. Gains and losses on sales and exchanges of
investments are recognized on the transaction date. Interest, dividends, net realized gains and other investment
income are recognized on the accrual basis and included in investment income, net of investment related
expenses. Investments in corporate and govemnment bonds and obligations are reported at amortized cost with
discounts or premiums amortized using the interest method, All other investments are carried at cost, subject to
adjustment for market declines determined to be other than temporary. Income on venture capital is recognized
once distributions received are in excess of the Fund’s capital contributions. Depreciation on buildings is
provided using the straight-line method over 40 years, the estimated useful life of the property. All other assets are
carried at cost,

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control structure designed to ensure that
the assets of the Fund are protected from loss, theft or misuse and to ensure that adequate accounting data are
compiled to allow for the preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles. The internal control structure is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these
objectives are met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that: (1) the cost of a control should not
exceed the benefits likely to be derived: and (2) the valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and
judgments by management. Management believes its intenal control structure meets these objectives.

Plan History and Overview

The Police and Firemen's Disability and Pension Fund (the Fund) was created by the Ohio General Assembly in
1965, replacing 454 separate local police and firemen's relief and pension funds in Ohio. The statewide Fund
began operating January 1, 1967. On that date the local pension funds transferred their assets and liabilities to the
Fund. Assets transferred to the Fund were approximately $75 million. The Fund’s actuary computed the liabilities
accrued up to 1966 at approximately $490 million. Unfunded accrued liabilities totaling nearly S207 million as of
December 31, 1996 are being paid by employers over a 67-year period which began in 1969. Under the terms of
a statute enacted by the Ohio Legislature in 1993, the Fund’s Board of Trustees may enter into agreements with
municipal corporations permitting them to pay off these liabilities at a discounted amount determined by the
Board. Between 1993 and October 1995 36 employers paid a total of $118,064.834, reducing their liabilities by
$181,638,206.

The Fund provides pension, disability and health care to qualified participants, survivor and death benefits and
health care to qualified spouses, children and dependent parents. Please refer to the plan summary in the actuarial
section for further information on plan benefits.

4 INTRODUCTORY SECTION Police and Firemen's Disability and Pension Fund of Ohio



The table below is a tabulation of current participating employers at December 31, 1996. The statistical section
beginning on page 45 provides more detail of the aforementioned participating employers.

Participating Employers

Police Fire
Municipalities 242 195
Townships - 83
Villages 332 30
Total 574 310

Economic Conditions and Outlook

Following anemic growth in late 1995, the Federal Reserve Board eased the Federal Funds Rate and the Discount
Rate one last time in January 1996, by lowering the rates by 25 basis points to 5.25% and 5%, respectively.
However, signs of stronger economic growth began to emerge early in the year as did concem over a tightening
labor market and the potential effect on inflation. The unemployment rate trended lower and ended the year at
5.3% as the pace of job creation picked up versus the prior year. Also, consumer confidence ascended to levels
not seen since 1989. For all of 1996, GDP rose 3.1%. Meanwhile, inflation, as measured by the CPI, trended
slightly higher during the year and registered a 3.3% annual increase. This environment allowed the Federal
Reserve Board to maintain a stable monetary policy for the remainder of the year despite constant speculation
about their next move. Stocks followed up an exceptional performance in 1995 with another excellent year, while
bonds slumped to a sub-par showing. The S&P 500 returned a remarkable 23.1%. However, the bond market
stumbled to a paltry 3.6% return for the Lehman Aggregate Index as investors worried that a stronger economy
would lead to higher inflation. This market environment helped the Fund achieve a 1996 total retumn for the
overall investment portfolio of 13.56%.

1997 has gotten off to a strong start in terms of the economy and the stock market. New jobs continue to be
created at a healthy pace and consumer confidence has risen even higher. In fact, first quarter GDP rose a strong
5.8%. Yet, inflation has so far remained benign. Worried about the strengthening economy and the tightening
labor market, the Federal Reserve Board, in March, raised the Federal Funds rate by 25 basis points to 5.5%.
Thriving on this economic backdrop, stock indexes are up strongly to new highs, but the bond market has
continued its recent mediocre performance as interest rates have risen. However, second quarter growth seems to
have slowed and inflation remains tame. Therefore, any further rise in rates should be fairly limited. Given
somewhat higher interest rates and projections of slower eamings growth, stocks are not likely to continue
upward at the exceptional pace of the last two and one-half years.

Major Initiatives

To help fulfill our goal of providing the best quality information and services for our membership, twelve pre-
retirement seminars and seven health fairs were conducted by Fund staff at locations throughout the state. Six
publications relating to retirement were extensively revised and issued.

A highlight of 1996 was the June launch of the Fund's Intemet website. The site, whose address is
http://www.pfdpf.state.oh.us/, provides members and other interested parties with an extensive array of
information regarding the Fund. A partial listing of the information available includes monthly Board reports,
news releases, member newsletters, booklets and brochures, and helpful informational guides conceming service
and disability retirement and the medical benefit program. In addition, members may contact Fund stall via
[nternet e-mail with questions or comments.

Once again in 1996 the Fund's efforts at cost containment and managed care achieved the Board of Trustees’ goal
of maintaining health care expense at no more than 6.5% of payroll, with a rate of only 6.22%. During 1996 the
preferred provider organization (PPO) network was expanded to cover the entire state, and out-of-state coverage
was also significantly expanded. In addition retirants were provided with optional dental and vision coverage.

Police und Firemen's Disability and Pension Fund of Qhio INTRODUCTORY SECTION



Financial Overview

The Fund receives virtually all of its funds from the following sources: member contributions, employer
contributions, retiree medical benefit contributions, state subsidies and reimbursements, and investment earnings.
Revenues from all sources totaled $829,370,209 in 1996, compared to $756,724,362 in 1995. The increase in
revenues is primarily due to increased investment income along with increased employer and employee
contributions. The Fund’s total rate of return on its investment portfolio decreased from 25.1% in 1995 to 13.6%
in 1996, still well in excess of the actuarial assumption of 8.35%. A summary of revenues for 1996 and 1995 is as

follows:

1996 1995

INCREASE

REVENUES BY SOURCE Amount Percent Amount Percent (DECREASEK)
Contributions $360,594,486  44% $341,354,918 45%  § 19,239,568
Net Investment Income 457,910,608 55% 405,458,383 52% 52,452,225
Interest on Local Funds Receivable 8,798,709 1% 8,926,285 19 (127,576)
Other Income 2,066.406 0% 984,775 0% 1,081,630
Total $829,370,209 100% $756,724,362  100% $ 72,645,847

Benefit payments are the primary expense of the Fund. Total expenses for the Fund were $444,076,374 in 1996,
compared to $415,237,352 in 1995. The increase in total expenses is primarily due to an increase in benefit
payments. A summary of expenses for 1996 and 1995 is as follows:

1 b INCREASE
EXPENSES BY TYPIL Amount Percent Amount Percent (DECREASE)
Benefits $420,382.559  95% $395,058,132 95% $25,324,427
Administrative Expenses 17,778,992 4% 14,066,160 4% 3,712,832
Refund of Employee Contributions 5,602,382 1% 5,553,638 | % 48,744
Other Expenses 312,441 0% 559,622 0% (247,181)
Total $444,076,374  100% $415,237,352  100% $ 28,839,022

Funding Practices and Actuarial Overview

Funds are derived from the excess of revenues over expenses, and are accumulated by the Fund in order to meet
current and future benefit obligations to retirees and beneficiaries. Net income for the year ended December 31,
1996, increased the fund balance by approximately $385.3 million. This increase is approximately $43.8 million
more than the total fund balance increase recognized in the prior year.

The actuarial valuation for funding purposes dated January 1, 1996, the most recent actuarial valuation, reported
an unfunded actuarial accrued liability of $3,295.2 million, which represents the difference between the actuarial
accrued liability for benefits to be paid members and retirees ($8,245.4 million) and total valuation assets
($4,950.2 million). The unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being amortized in an orderly fashion over future
years. The January 1, 1996 pension benefit obligation was $6,220.8 million.

INTRODUCTORY SECTION Police and Firemen's Disability and Pension Fund of Ohio



Investment Policy

The Fund invests all available funds in order to maximize both current income yield and long-tenm appreciation.
For the year ended December 31, 1996, the investment portfolio provided 55% of the Fund’s total revenues while
employee and employer contributions provided 14% and 29%, respectively. All other sources provided the
remaining 2%.

The primary objective of the Fund’s investment policy is to assure that the Fund meets its responsibilities for
providing retirement and other benefits. The portfolio is diversified to provide adequate cash flow, and to provide
the highest possible total return on the Fund's assets with the least exposure to risk.

Investment Portfolio at December 31, 1996

Domestic
Common
and Pooled Venture Capital
Common Stock 0.30%
34.05%

Commercial
Mortgage funds
1.70%
Commercial Paper
2.96%

Real Estate and Bonds and
Morigage notes Obligations
receivable 42.12%

10.35%

Foreign Securilies
8.53%

Details of portfolio composition, rates of retumn, analysis of significant economic eonditions, and additional
information concerning the Fund’s investment policy are provided on pages 54 through 64 of this comprehensive

annual financial report.

Material Plan Amendments
There are no material plan amendments in 1996.

Independent Auditors
The financial statements of the Fund for the year ended December 31, 1996, were audited by Deloitte & Touche
LLP, independent certified public accountants, whose opinion thereon is included in of the Financial Section of

this report.
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Naotes to the Financial Statements
The notes to the financial statements which follow the financial statements contain additional information and are
an integral part of such statements.

Certificate of Achievement

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Fund for its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1995. The Certificate of Achievement is the highest form of recognition

for excellence in state and local government financial reporting,

In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an easily readable and
efficiently organized Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, whose contents conform to program standards.
Such reports must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe our current report continues to
conform to the Certificate of Achievement Program requirements, and we are submitting it to the GFOA,

Acknowledgments

The preparation of this report reflects the combined efforts of the Fund’s staff under the direction of the Board of
Trustees. It is intended to provide complete and reliable information as a basis for making management decisions,
to disclose compliance with legal provisions, and as a means of determining responsible stewardship for the
assets contributed by the members and their employers.

This report is being mailed to all employer members of the Fund and other interested parties.

Respectfully submitted,

2 J Gz YR e

ALLEN J. PROCTOR THOMAS R. SEVERNS
Executive Director Director of Finance
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BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31, 1996 and 1995

Assets:

Cash (note 5)

Receivables:
Employers’ contributions
Employees' contributions
Accrued investment income
Investment sale proceeds

Total receivables

Collateral held under security
lending program (note 5)

Investments at cost (market value $6,335,032,006
and $5,619,333,015 in 1996 and 1995,
respectively) (notes 5, 6, 8 and 12)

Local funds receivable (note 7)

Property and Equipment, net of accumulated
depreciation of $2,085,254 and $1,831,502 in
1996 and 1995 respectively

Other assets

Deposits with deferred compensation plan (note 9)

Total assets

Liabilities:

Health care benefits payable (note 2)

Investment commitments payable

Accounts payable and acerued expenses

Notes payable (note 8)

Liabilities for Death Benefit Fund benefits (note 16)
Other liabilities

Obligations under securities lending program (note 5)
Deferred compensation plan payable (note 9)

Total liabilities
Net assets available for benefits

Fund balance (note 3);
Pension benefit obligation:

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving
benefits and terminated employees not yet
receiving benefits

Current employees:
Accumulated employee contribution
Employers financed portion

Total pension benefit obligation
Unfunded pension benefit obligation

Total fund balance

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

1996 1995
$25,578,302 S 32910,302
70,787,724 69,152,659
9,892,293 10,755,075
65,164,233 64,960,806
4.438,598 5,458,551
150,282,848 150,327,091
1,172,043,094 815,042,481

5,271,803,802
206,992,946

3,025,920
1,214,114
731,555

6.831,672.581

9,688,220
45,012,142
2,252,556
30,132,113
11,585,278
3,164,003
1,172,043,094
731,555

1,274,608,961
$5,557,063,620

3,236,800,000

824,500,000
2,159,500.000

6,220,800,000
(663,736.380)

$5,557,063,620

4,853,075,637
209,135,978

3,597,209
[,998,445
602,800

6.066,689,943

10,373,369
21,706,404
2,208,375
30,573,125
10,559,193
3,854,411
815,042,481
602,800

894,920,158
$5,171,769,785

2,997,100,000

770,200,000
2,085,900,000

5,853,200,000
(681,430.215)

$5,171,769,785
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STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996 and 1995

1996 1993
Operating revenue:
Contributions:
Employers (note 4) $ 236,214,576 223,206,380
Employees (note 4) 115,314,953 109,000,755
Medical Benefits 5,119,628 4,965,059
State of Ohio-subsidies (note 4) 3,945,329 4,182,724
360,594,486 341,354,918
Net investment income (notes 5 and 6) 457,910,608 405,458,383
Interest on local funds receivable 8,798,709 8,926,285
Other income 2,066,406 084,775
Total operating revenues 829,370,209 756,724,361
Operating expenses:
Benefits (note 3):
Retirement 225,448,375 207,355,087
Disability 91,638,835 86,763,675
Health care 71,674,335 70,170,717
Survivor 31,621,014 30,768,653
420,382,559 395,058,132
Loss on write-downs of long term local
funds receivable (note 2) - 167,105
Administrative expenses, including depreciation on
operating properties (note 10) 17,778,992 14,066,160
Refund of employee contributions (note 4) 5,602,382 5,553,638
Other expenses 312,441 392317
Total operating expenses 444,076,374 415,237,352
Net operating income 385,293,835 341,487,009
Fund balance, beginning of year 5,171,769,785 4.830,282,776
Fund balance, end of year $5,557,063,620 $5,171,769,785
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
Police and Firemen's Disability and Pension Fund of Ohio FINANCIAL SECTION 11



STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996 and 1995

Reconciliation of net operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Net operating income
Adjustments to reconcile net operating income to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Investment income
Depreciation on property and equipment
Local funds' receivable principal payments
Loss on writedowns of long term local funds receivable
Change in assets and liabilities:
Increase in receivables
(Decrease) Increase in other assets
(Decrease) Increase in health care benefits payable
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses
(Decrease) in other liabilities
(Decrease) Increase in note payable
Increase in liabilities for death benefit fund benefits

Total adjustments

Net cash provided by operating activities:

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from sale and maturities of investments
Net investment income
Depreciation on investment in real estate

Net cash provided by investing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalen(s

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents year to date

Noncash Transaction

Change in collateral and related obligations related to
securilies lending program

Sce accompanying notes to financial statements.

1996 1995
$ 385293,835 $ 341,487,009
(457,910,608 ) (405,458,383 )
676,146 572,119
2,143,033 3,998,498
- 167,106
(772,284) (2,336,072 )
784,331 (1,023,947 )
(685,149) 918,333
44,181 645,073
(690,408 ) (456,541)
(441,012) 28,392,424
1,026,085 9,276,812
(455,825,685) (365,304,578 )
(70,531,850 ) (23,817,569 )
(104,857) (1,180,045)
(7,349,013,462)  (8,154,668,882)
7,188,768,149 7,997,856,752
214,422,415 204,516,762
9,127,605 5,222,194
63,304,707 52,926,826
(7,332,000 ) 27,929,212
32,910,302 4,981,090

$ 25,578,302

$ 32,910,302

$ 357,000,613

§  (87.357877)

12 FINANCIAL SECTION

Palice and Firemen's Disability and Pension Fund of Ohio



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Deloitte &
Touche LLp

/\ 155 East Broad Street Telephone: (614} 221-1000
e Columbus, Ohio 43215-3611  Facsimile: (614) 229-4647

To the Board of Trustees of the Police
and Firemen's Disability and Pension Fund of Ohio:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of the Police and Firemen’s Disability and Pension Fund
of Ohio (the Fund) as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, and the related statements of revenues, expenses and
changes in fund balance and of cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Fund's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Fund at December 31, 1996 and 1995, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then
ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a
whole. The accompanying financial information listed as supplemental schedules in the foregoing table of
contents, which is also the responsibility of the management of the Fund, is presented for the purpose of
additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements of the Fund. Such additional
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audits of the basic 1996 and 1995
financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly presented in all material respects when considered in
relation to the basic 1996 and 1995 financial statements taken as a whole. The schedules as of and for the
years ended December 31, 1987, 1988, 1989 and 1990 were subjected to auditing procedures by other
auditors whose report dated June 7, 1991 stated that such schedules were fairly stated in all material respects
when considered in relation to the basic financial statements.

DM \TMJ& Lef
May 30, 1997

Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu
International
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996 AND 1995

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE SYSTEM
(a) Organization

The Police and Firemen's Disability and Pension Fund of
Ohio (the Fund) is a cost-sharing multiple-employer public
employee retirement system established by Chapter 742 of
the Ohio Revised code (ORC) in 1967 to consolidate the
various local police and firemen’s relief and pension funds
into one statewide plan. The Fund administers pension,
disability and health care to qualified participants, and
survivor and death benefits and health care to qualified
spouses, children and dependent parents.

Employer and employee membership data as of January 1,
1996, date of the most recent actuarial valuation, follows:

Employee Members Police Fire  Total

Retirees and
beneficiaries currently
receiving benefits
and terminated
employees entitled to
benefits but not yet
receiving them

1177 8.980 20.166

Current employces:

Vested 5,202 394 9146

Nonvested 9.356 6,784 16,140
14,558 10.728 25,286

Employer Members

Municipalities 242 195

Townships = 83

Villages 332 30

Total 574 310

(b) Benefits

Members are eligible for normal retirement benefils at age
48 with 25 years of service credit or at age 62 with 15 years
of service credit. The normal retirement benefit is equal to
2.5% of annual earmings for each of the first 20 years of
service, 2.0% for each of the next 5 years of service, and
1.5% for each year of service thereafter. However, this
normal retirement benefit is not to exceed 72% of the
member’s average and annual eamings for the three
consecutive years during which the total eamings were
greatest or the member’s recalculated average annual salary
for any three years during which eamings were the greatest.
Retirement with reduced benefits is available upon
reaching age 48 with |5 years of service credit or 25 years
from the date the member became a qualified employee.

In addition to retirement benefits, the Fund also provides
disability, survivor and medical benefits. Disability benefits
are available to all members and vary by length of service
and type of disability. Survivor benefits are specified dollar
amounts paid to eligible survivors upon the death of an
active member or retiree. The Fund provides medical
benefits to eligible benefit recipients and their eligible
dependents. The medical benefits are not guaranteed and
are subject to change at any time upon action of the Board
of Trustees. Coverage includes a comprehensive medical
expense benefit plan along with a prescription drug
program for retail and mail order prescriptions.

An eligible spouse or dependent of &1 member whose death
resulted from injury or disease sustained while on active
duty as a police officer or fire fighter is entitled to receive
the member’s full monthly salary, which will be reduced at
the member’s retirement eligibility date. The payment will
be terminated at the spouse’s remarriage or the dependent’s
attainment of age 18 (or 22 if attending school). These
death benefit payments are in addition to any optional
payment plan benefits elected by the member. Funding for
death benelits is received from the State of Ohio, as the
ORC requires the State to finance 100% of death benefit
payments,

(c) The Financial Reporting Entity

The Police and Firemen’s Disability and Pension Fund is a
public employee retirement system govemed by a Bourd of
Trustees consisting of nine members. Six members are
elected by the employee groups they represent, The Auditor
of State, the Attomey General and a municipal fiscal officer
appointed by the Governor are statutory members. The
Fund is a separate financial reporting entity in accordance
with criteria established by Governmental Accounting
Standards Board Statement No, 14 because it is legally
separate, a voting majority of the governing board is not
appointed by the State, and it is fiscally independent of
other state and local governments.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of Accounting

The Fund'’s financial statements have been prepared using
the accrual basis of accounting. The following are the
significant accounting policies followed by the Fund.

(b) Investments

Income on all investments is recognized on the accrual
basis. Gains and losses on sales and exchanges of
investments are recognized on the transaction date, Interest,
dividends, net realized gains and other investment income
is included in investment income, net of depreciation on
investment in real estate and unrealized losses. All
investment transactions are recorded on a trade date basis.
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Investments in corporate and government bonds and
obligations are reported at amortized cost with discounts or
premiums amortized using the interest method.

Investments in common and preferred stocks are carried at
cost, subject to adjustment for market declines determined
to be other than temporary. Advisers manage the Fund's
stock portfolio. Gains and losses on sale of stocks are
recognized on the transaction date based upon first in, first
out (FIFO) cost of the shares managed by each adviser.

Investments in commercial paper are carried at amortized
cost, which approximates market value.

Investments in venture capital limited partnerships and real
estate are accounted for at cost, subject to adjustment tor
market declines determined to be other than temporary.
Income on venture capital is recognized once distributions
received are in excess of the Fund’s capital contributions.
Depreciation on buildings owned through real estate
investments is provided using the straight-line method over
40 years, the estimated useful life of the property.

Investments in assets held under the deferred compensation
program (note 9) are carried at market.

(¢) Federal Income Tax Status

The Fund was determined to be exempt from Federal
income taxes under Section 501(a) of the Intemal Revenue
Code.

(d) Health Care Benefits Payable

‘The Fund provides a postretirement health care program
which is self-insured and is administered by an insurance
carrier. Amounts accrued for health care claims payable
and for incurred but not reported health care claims are
based upon estimates fumnished by the insurance carrier and
management. Such estimates have been developed from
prior claims experience. The liabilities at December 31,
1996 and 1995 are not discounted.

1996 1995
Claims liability at January 1~ $10,373,369 $ 9,455,036
Incurred claims 71,674,335 70,170,717

Claims paid (72,359,484 ) (69.252.384)

Claims liability at
December 31 $ 9.688.220 $10.373.369

(e) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation
is computed using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the related assets.

The range of estimated useful lives is as follows:

40 years

Buildings
3 to 10 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
(f) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Fund considers all highly liquid investments with a
maturity of three months or less when purchased. to be
cash equivalents, excluding commercial paper which is
classified as an investment,

(g) Loss on VWrite-downs of Long Term Local Funds
Receivable

In 1993 the Ohio Legislature authorized the Fund's Board
of Trustees to enter into agreements with municipal
corporations permitting them to pay off the remaining
balance of their “Employers’ Accrued Liability™ (see Note
7) at a discounted amount to be determined by the Board.
The Board adopted 65 percent as the discounted amount it
would accept for payments received by October 15, 1995,
Early payoft under this option is no longer available after
that date,

Because of a preliminary ruling by the Intemal Revenue
Service that interest on debt issued by cities to provide
funds for paying oft this obligation would not be
considered tax exempt, only a limited number of cities have
entered into payoff agreements,

On the Fund’s 1995 Statement of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Fund Balance and Statement of Cash Flows,
the amount shown as “Loss on Write-downs of Long Term
Local Funds Receivable™ represents the amount of
discounts on payments received in 1995.

(h) GASB Statements 25 and 26

In November 1994 the Governmental Accounting
Standards Bouard (GASB) issued Statements 25 and 26,
effective for periods beginning after June 15, 1996, with
early implementation encouraged. For 1996, the Fund has
elected to defer implementation of these statements, which
require plan investments to be recorded at fair value and be
split between pension and health care. They also require a
change in financial statement format,

(i) GASB Statement No. 20

Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 20: Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Proprictary Funds and Other
Governmental Entities that use Proprietary Fund
Accounting, the Fund follows GASB guidance as
applicable to proprietary funds and Financial Accounting
Standards Board Statements and Interpretations,
Accounting Principles Board Opinions and Accounting
Research Bulletins issued on or before November 30, 1989
that do not conflict with or contradict GASB
pronouncements.

(j) Reclassifications

Certain [995 balances have been reclassitied to conform
with the 1996 presentation.

3. FUNDING STATUS AND PROGRESS

The amount shown as “pension benefit obligation™ is a
standardized disclosure measure of the present value of
pension benefits, adjusted for the effects of projected salary
increases, estimated to be payable in the future as a result
of employee service to date.

The measure is called the “actuarial present value of
credited projected benefits™ and is intended to help users
assess the funding status of the Fund on a going-concem
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basis, assess progress made in accumulating sufficient
assets to pay benefits when due, and allow for comparisons
among public employee retirement systems. The measure
is independent of the actuarial funding method used to
determine contributions to the Fund.

The pension benefit obligation was determined as part of
the January 1, 1996 actuarial valuation, the date of the most
recent actuarial valuation. The calculation excludes the
present value of credited projected benefits for death
benefits and a 1972 statutory benefit increase and health
care benefits. The cost of death benefits and the 1972
statutory benefit increase are fully funded by State of Ohio
appropriations. Health care benefits are funded on a pay-as-
you-go basis from the Health Care Stabilization Fund (see
note 14). The pension benefit obligation of the Fund as a
whole is presented separately for police and fire fighters
due to ditterent actuarial assumptions for each group.
Significant actuarial assumptions used in the 1996 and
1995 valuations are as follows:

(a) 8.25% rate of retwrn on investments, compounded
annually. )
(b) Future salary increases based on inflationary increase

of 49 per year, and an age-graded promotional
increase of 1.0 to 3.0% per year.

(c) Pre-retirement mortality is based on the 1951 Group
Annuity Mortality Table as projected to 1980 using
Scale C, with a one-year set-forward in age. The
projected values are multiplied by 0.5.

(d) For service retirees and survivors, mortality is based on
the 1951 Group Annuity Mortality Table projected to
1980 using Scale C, with a one-year set-forward.

For disability retirees, mortality is based on the 1951
Group Annuity Mortality Table projected to 1980 using
Scale C and includes loads for disability.

(e) Rates of retirement are based on experience for the
period 1990-1993.

(f) Rates of withdrawal from aclive service for reasons
other than death and rates of disability have been
developed based on actual plan experience.

(g) Assets are valued for actuarial purposes at cost, except
common and preferred stocks are included in valuation
assets with a value equal to that developed under the 4-
year Market Adjustment Method, with an initial value
equal to market value,

At January 1, 1996, the unfunded pension benefit
obligation was computed to be approximately 51,252,497
as follows:

January 1, 1996 Analysis of unfunded pension benefit obligation (in thousands):

Pension benefit obligation:
Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits and
terminated employees not yet receiving benefits
Current employees:
Accumulated employee contributions

Employer-financed vested
Employer-financed nonvested

Total pension benefit obligation

Net assets available for pension benefits,
at cost (market value $5,734,560)
(excluding Health Care Stabilization Fund of $203,467)

Unfunded pension benefit obligation at January 1, 1996

Police Fire Total
$1,818,600 S1.418,200 $3,236,800
468,200 356,300 824,500
906,900 658,200 [.565,100
334,000 260,400 594,400
1,709,100 1,274,900 2,984,000
$3,527,700 $2,693,100 6.220,800
4,968,303

$1,252,497
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The actuarial effect of 1996 membership changes on the
pension benefit obligation has not been determined and is
therefore not reflected in the December 31, 1996 balance
sheet value of the unfunded pension benefit obligation,

At January 1, 1995, the unfunded pension benefit
obligation was computed to be approximately $1,207,483
as follows:

January 1, 1995 Analysis of unfunded pension benefit obligation (in thousands):

Pension benefit obligation: o )
Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits and

terminated employees not yet receiving benefits

Current employees: -
Accumulated employee contributions
Employer-financed vested
Employer-financed nonvested

Total pension benefit obligation

Net assets available for pension benefits,
at cost (market value $4,749,036)
(excluding Health Care Stabilization Fund of $184,566)

Unfunded pension benefit obligation at January 1, 1995

Police Fire Total
$1,665,700 $1,331,400 $2.997,100
437,900 332,300 770,200
880,700 628,500 1,509,200
322,500 254,200 576,700
1,641,100 1,215,000 2.856,100
$3,306,800 $2,546,400 5,853,200
4,645,717
$1,207,483

The actuarial effect of 1995 membership changes and plan
amendments on the pension bencfit obligation had not been
determined and is therefore not reflected in the December
31, 1995 balance sheet value for the unfunded pension
benefit obligation. These changes and amendments have
been reflected in the 1996 valuation.

4. CONTRIBUTIONS REQUIRED
AND CONTRIBUTIONS MADE

The ORC requires contributions by active members and
their employers. The contribution requirement was not
actuarially determined but rather established by law under
the ORC. Contribution rates are, however, subject to annual
review by the Ohio Retirement Study Commission.
Additionally, an actuary is used to determine the actuarial
implications of the requirement. The adequacy of
contribution rates is determined annually using the entry
age normal with frozen initial liability actuarial cost
method. Contribution rates as required by the ORC and as
calculated by the Fund’s actuary are as follows:

Police  Fire

(% of active

member
Rates established by the ORC puyrﬂ[[)
al December 31, 1996:
Employer [9.50 24.00
Member [0.00 1000
Total actual rate 29.50 34.00

Actuarially determined rate
as of January 1, 1996 36.28

The Fund’s actuary allocated 6.50% ol the current actuarial

.
oy
(=]
3

contribution rate to health care and the remaining to basic
retirement benefits. Funding for health care benefits is on a
piy-as-you-go basis. Significant actuarial assumptions used
to determine the adequicy of contribution rates were the
same as those used to compute the standardized measure of
the pension benefit obligation. There were no material
changes in the current year in actuarial assumptions,
actuarial funding method or benelit provisions.

Contributions as a percentage of active member payroll
required and made for 1996 represented 29.50% for police
and 34.00% for fire fighters. Employer and member
contributions were approximately $122,878,000 and
$62,867,000 respectively for police and $113,337,000 and
547,064,000 respectively for fire fighters for the year ended
December 31, 1996.

Contributions as a percentage of active member payroll
required and made for 1995 represented 29.50% for police
and 34.00% for fire fighters. Employer and member
contributions were approximately $116,282,000 and
$62,706,000 respectively for police and $106,924,000 and
$46,295,000 respectively for fire lighters for the year ended
December 31, 1995,

Member contributions may be refunded, without interest, to
amember who withdraws from the Fund, Accumulated
employer contributions for the withdrawn member remain
in the Fund and are used to finance current and fuure
benefit payments of remaining members.

In accordance with the ORC, the State of Ohio is required
to contribute additional amounts to finance the cost of
State-legislated benefit improvements. Total amounts
contributed by the State for the years ended December 31,
1996 and 1995 were $3,945,329 and $4,182,724
respectively.
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5. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS
(a) Deposits

The Fund's deposits are categorized based on the following
criteria: Category 1 includes deposits insured or
collateralized with securities held by the Fund or by its
agent in the Fund’s name. Category 2 includes deposits
collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial
institution's trust department or agent in the Fund's name.
Category 3 includes uncollateralized deposits. This
category also includes any bank balance that is
collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial
institution, or by its trust department or agent but not in the
Fund’s name.

The carrying amount of the Fund’s cash deposits at
December 31, 1996 was $25,578,302 and the depository
balance was $25,537,561. Of this total, $1,448,047 was
covered by federal depository insurance and $3,228,628
was covered by collateral held in the name of the Fund's
legally-designated custodian, the Treasurer of the State of
Ohio (Category 1). The remaining depository balance of
$20,860,886 consisting of amounts held by the OP & F
Trusts, was uninsurad and uncollateralized (Category 3).
Deposits with the Ohio Public Employees Deferred
Compensation Program are recorded as other assets and
due to their nature are not required to be categorized.

(b) Investments

The Fund is authorized to invest in bonds, notes,
certificates of indebtedness, mortgage notes, real estate,
stock shares, debentures, and other obligations or securities
as set forth in the ORC.

The Fund’s investments are categorized to give an
indication of the level of collateral risk assumed by the
Fund as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, Category |
includes investments that are insured or registered or for
which the securities are held by the Fund or its agent in the
Fund's name. Category 2 includes uninsured and
unregistered investments for which the securities are held
by the counterparty's trust department or agent in the
Fund’s name. Category 3 includes uninsured and
unregistered investments for which the securities are held
by the counterparty, or by ifs trust department or agent but
not in the Fund’s name.

All investments of the Fund met the criteria of Category |
at December 31, 1996 and 1993, except for the investments
in domestic pooled common stocks, real estate, mortgage
notes receivable, commercial mortgage funds and venture
capital which, by their nature, are not required to be
categorized.

A summary of investments for each year follows:

Years Ended December 31, 1996

Sales, Re- % of
December 31, 1995 Purchases  demptions December 31, 1996 Total
Carrying Market and and Carrying Market Market
Value Value Accretions Accruals Value Value Value
Canadian bonds
and obligations S 94206979 S 102,898,115 S 35057.042 S 24230290 S 105033731 S 108,602,049 1.71%
Government bonds
and obligations 882.505,049 943.869.929 1.108.983.573 936,697,962  1,054,790,660  1,071,387,586 16.91%
Corporate bonds
and obligations 055.220914 996,254,025 636,568,842 531,202,991 1.060.586.765  1,068.528.565  16.87%
Domestic common
stocks 1,285.911.654 1,647,283.656 1.183,730,070 966,116,902 1.503,524,822 2,081.870.370  32.36%
Domestic pooled
common stocks 319,237,461 589.325.934 - 27.794.549 291442912 643,129,572 10.18%
Foreign securities 430,352.918 452,381,860 415,876,605 426,551,031 449,678,492 523.895.973 8.27%
Commercial paper 342,771,989 342.771.989 3.874992.339  4,061,949.000 155,815,328 155,815,329 2.46%
Real estate, net of
accumulated
depreciation (note 6) 449,603,453 H6,734.097 94,743,821 11,349,997 532,999,277 556,569,916 8.79%
Mortgage notes
receivable 12,343,000 12,345,000 144,000 - 12,489,000 12,489,000 0.20%
Commercial mongage
funds 67,355,949 67,8650.456 29,748,468 7.498.627 89.605,790 90,206,177 1.:42%
Venture capital 13,562,270 17,617.934 5,192,288 2917533 15.837.025 20,537,469 0.32%
$4,853,075,637 $5,619,333,015  $7,415,037,048 $6,996,308,882  $5,271,803,802  $£6,335,032,006 100.00%
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Years Ended December 31, 1995

Sales, Re- % of
December 31, 1994 Purchases demptions December 31, 1995 Total
Carrying Market and and Carrying Market Market
Value Value Accretions Accruals Value VYalue Value
Canadian bonds
and obligations S 66269937 § 63334058 3 40758254 S 12821212 S 94206979 S 102,898.115 1.83%
Government bonds )
and obligations 1,165,403,741 1,091,114,548 412,612,815 695,511,507 882,505,049 943869929  16.80%
Corporate bonds
and obligations 955,992,242 930,094,996 210,323,644 211,094,972 955.220914 996254025  17.73%
Common stocks 1,121,544,162 1,218977417 1,279,148,661 1,114,781,168 1,285,911,655 1,647.283.656 29.31%
Pooled common
stocks 339,960,060 468,738,271 20,722,599 319,237461 589325934  10.49%
Foreign securities 150,000,000 143,530,348 1,173,343.514 892,990,596 430,352,918 452,381,860 8.05%
Commercial paper 413,995,280 413,995,280 5,662,963,709  5,734,187,000 342,771,989 342,771,989 6.10%
Real estate, net of
accumulated
depreciation (note 6) 248,050,675 228,292,210 220,669,410 19,114,632 449,605,453 446,734,097 7.95%
Mortgage notes
receivable 15,249,000 15,249,000 2,904,000 12,345,000 12,345,000 0.22%
Commercial mortgage
funds 20,022,477 20,022,477 49,921,184 2,587,712 67,355,949 67,850,456 1.21%
Venture capital 7,580,389 12,722,805 6,318,743 336.862 13,562,270 17,617,954 0.31%
$4,504,067,963  $4,606,071,410  $9,056,059,934  $8,707,052,260 $4,853,075,637  $5,619,333,015 100.00%

Market values of bonds and stocks are based primarily on
quotations from national security exchanges. Real estate
market values are based upon external or management
appraisals. Mortgage notes receivable and venture capital
do not have quoted market prices and are therefore shown
at cost.

In accordance with the Fund's policy (see note 2) venture
capital limited partnerships are accounted for at cost.

The Fund participates in a security lending program,
administered by the custodial agent bank, whereby certain
securities are transferred to an independent broker/dealer
(borrower) in exchange for collateral equal to no less than
102% of the market value of the loaned securities. The
Fund has minimized its exposure to credit risk due to
borrower default by having the custodial agent bank
determine daily that required collateral meets 100% of the
market value of securities on loan. The Fund has not
experienced any losses due to credit or market risk on
security lending activity since implementation of the
program. Securities loaned to brokers/dealers at December
31, 1996 and 1995 totaled $1,172,043,094 and
$815,042,481 respectively. Security lending income totaled
31,451,042 and 51,248,083 for the years ended December
31, 1996 and 1995 respectively.

6. INVESTMENT IN REAL ESTATE

The Fund's investment in real estate as of each December
31 consists of:

1996 1995
Land $ 96,100,153 $ 83,154,409
Buildings 348,214,303 300,127,897
Capital
improvements 54,643,219 32,659,989
498,957,675 415,942 295
Accumulated
depreciation 36.246,348 27,118,743
Net book value 462,711,327 388,823,552

Commingled fund
limited
partnerships 70,287,949

Total $532,999,276

60,781,901
$449,605,453

Real estate rental income was approximately $30,073,732
and $26,799,153 in 1996 and 1995, respectively, net of
depreciation of approximately $9,127,605 and $5,222,194
Real estate income is included in net investment income.

The following is a schedule by years of minimum future
rentals on noncancelable operating leases related to the
Fund's investment in real estate as of December 31, 1996;

Year ending December 31,

1997 44 904,447
1998 36,082,404
1999 32,282,618
2000 27,754,155
2001 22,138,747
Thereafter 117,264,821

Total minimum future rentals $280,427,192
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7. LOCALFUNDS RECEIVABLE

Local governments are required by state statute to pay the
unfunded portion of the actuarially determined liability of
the local police and firemen's relief and pension funds that
were merged to form the Fund in 1967. The ORC names
this obligation of local govemments the “Employers’
Accrued Liability”. Interest on the outstanding balance is
being accrued at a rate of 4.25%, compounded
semiannually. Local governments began repayment in 1969
and payments are required to be made until 2035. Between
1969 and 1973, payments ol principal and interest were
received at incremental semiannual rates ranging from 1%
to 2% of the original receivable balance. Between 1973 and
2035, semiannual payments of principal and inlerest are
required to be made by the local governments at a rate of
2.5% of the original receivable balance. The balance due at
December 31, 1996 includes $1,242,881 due from local
governments which had previously underpaid their
semiannual payment and from local governments which
joined the Fund subsequent to 1967 according to a 20-year
payment plan.

In 1993 the Ohio Legislature authorized the Fund's Board
of Trustees to enter into agreements with municipal
corporations permitting the cities to pay off the remaining
balance of their “Employers' Accrued Liability” at a
discounted amount to be determined by the Board. The
Board adopted 65 percent as the discounted amount it
would accept for payments received by October 135, 1995.

The following is a summary of the amounts due on the
local funds receivable:

Year ending December 31,

1997 11,342,897

1998 10,924,258

1999 10,923419

2000 10,922,551

2001 10,921,666

Thereafter 362,847,216

Total projected payments 417,882,007
Less interest portion 210.889,06!1
Balance due at December 31, 1996 $206,992,946

8. MORTGAGENOTES PAYABLE

In 1993, the Fund assumed two mortgage notes payable of
$15,840,000 and $14,729,395. These notes are secured by
Vista Ridge Village and Belmont/Carlton Apartments
respectively. The former note bears an interest of 7.8% per
annum and the latter accrues interest at 7.9% per annum.

Aggregate and annual payments of principal on the
mortguge loans are as follows:

Year ending December 31,

1997 465,152

1998 501,558

1999 542,321

2000 585,548

2001 632,353

Thereafter 27,405.181

Total payments $30,132,113

9. DEFERRED COMPENSATION

All Fund employees may elect to participate in the Ohio
Public Employees’ Deferred Compensation Program, a
deferred compensation plan created in accordance with
Internal Revenue Code Section 457. Participating
employees defer a designated amount of their salary until
some future date, and such compensation is not available to
the participant prior to termination, retirement, death, or
some unforseeable emergency.

The compensation so deferred, any property and rights
purchased with the deferrals, and any income attributable to
the deferrals, property or rights are, until paid or made
available to the participant or a participant’s beneficiary,
solely the property of the Fund subject only to the claims of
the Fund’s general creditors. The rights of a plan participant
are equal to those of a general creditor of the Fund to the
amount equal to the fair market value of the participant’s
account. The total market value of the accounts of
participating Fund employees was approximately $731,555
and $602,800 as of December 31, 1996 and 1995
respectively. These amounts are reported on the Fund’s
balance sheet as an asset, “deposits with deferred
compensation plan,” with a corresponding liability
“deferred compensation plan payable.”

It is the opinion of the Fund’s legal counsel that the Fund
has no liability for losses under the plan but does have the
duty of due care that would be required of an ordinary
prudent adviser. The Fund believes that it is unlikely that it
will use the assets to satisfy the claims of general creditors
in the future.

10. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN

The Fund contributes to the Public Employees Retirement
System of Ohio, (PERS), & cost-sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan. PERS provides retirement
and disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments,
and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries.
Benefit provisions and contribution requirements are
established by the Ohio State Legislature and are codified
in Chapter 145 of the Ohio Revised Code. PERS issues a
publicly available financial report that includes financial
information and required supplementary information for
the plan. That report may be obtained by writing to PERS,
277 East Town Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4642.
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Plan members are required to contribute 8.5% of their
annual covered salary, while employers are required to
contribute 13.55%. The Fund's contributions to PERS for
the years ending December 31, 1996, 1995, and 1994 were
$734,710, 5603,732, and $535,374, respectively, equal to
the required contributions for each year.

1. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

In addition to the pension benefits described in note 10,
PERS provides postemployment health care benefits to all
employees who retire with 10 or more years of qualifying
Ohio service credit. The plan has 369,467 active
contributing participants as of December 31, 1995,

The Fund and all employees are required to contribute to
PERS as in note 10. A portion of each employer's
contribution is set aside for advanced funding of
postemployment health care. Of the 13.55% of employee
payroll contributed by the Fund, 5.11% or approximately
$170,266 was the portion used to fund health care.
Statutory rates equal the actuarially determined
contribution requirements.

The actuarial present value of acerued other
postemployment benefits was determined based on the
entry age normal method of funding. Significant actuarial
assumptions used in the December 31, 1995 actuarial
valuation (most recent valuation available) were (a) a
7.75% rate of return on investments, (b) investments valued
at cost or amortized cost, adjusted to reflect 25% of
unrealized appreciation or depreciation on investment
assets, (¢) no change in the number of active employees,
(d) base pay rate increases of 5.25% and annual pay
increases over and above the 5.25% base increase ranging
from 0% to 5.1% and (d) health care cost increases of
5.25% annually.

The total Ohio PERS actuarial present value of accrued
other postemployment benefits us of December 31, 1995
(most recent valuation available) was $8.60 billion; the net
assets available for these benefits at that date were $7.23
billion.

12,  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Fund holds a mortgage note receivable secured by a
deed of trust on a shopping center located at 1700
McHenry Avenue, Modesto, California. The mortgage loan
receivable was to mature on July 16, 1995. The loan was
extended until March 1, 1996. A five year extension of the
mortgage loan was signed and took effect on June I, 1996.
For the year ended December 31, 1996, the borrower made
interest payments of $1.119,000 which is included in the
net investment income on the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Fund Balance,

The detail of the mortgage note receivable at December 31
is as follows (in thousands):

1996 1995
Receivable from borrower $15,000 515,000
Capitalized acquisition fee 126 126
Deferred interest 305 305
Capital legal cost 54 -
Unrealized loss (2,996) (2,996 )
Total $12,489 $12,435

The Fund is a defendant in a number of lawsuits pertaining
to matters which are incidental to performing routine
business functions. Fund management is of the opinion that
ultimate settlement of such claims will not result in a
material adverse effect on the Fund’s financial positjon as
of December 31, 1996.

The Fund is committed to make additional capital
contributions of $30,263,816 to existing venture capital
investments and $70,540,000 towards purchases of
additional real estate.

13. HISTORICAL TREND INFORMATION
Historical trend information designed to provide
information about the Fund's progress made in
accumulating sufficient assets to pay benefits when due, is
presented in the required supplemental schedules which
immediately follow the notes to financial statements.

14. MEDICAL BENEFIT FUNDING

Since July [, 1992 most retirees have been required to
contribute a portion of the cost of their health care
coverage. These contributions, which vary in amount
depending on the type and amount of the retirant’s pension,
are credited to a Health Care Stabilization Fund created in
1992, This fund, which received an initial allocation of
$150,000,000, is also credited with a portion of employer
contributions equal to 6.5% of payroll, and 8.25% effective
annual interest, and is charged with all health care
expenses. The fund’s assets at December 31, 1996 and
1995 were $226,773,541 and $203,467,204 respectively.

15. DERIVATIVES

The Fund invested in Planned Amortization Class and
Sequential Pay Real Estate Mortgage Investment Conduit
bonds issued by GNMA, FHLMC and FNMA. Planned
Amortization Class bonds are retired according to a
payment schedule so as to have a stable average life and
yield even if expected prepayment rates change within a
specified broad range of prepayment possibilities.
Sequential Pay bonds begin to pay principal when classes
with an earlier priority have paid to a zero balance. Such
bonds enjoy uninterrupted payment of principal until paid
to a zero balance. In terms of credit risk the United States
government explicitly backs GNMA morgage securitics
programs and implicitly backs FHLMC and FNMA
mortgage securities programs, The Fund has not violated
any legal, regulatory, or contractual provisions by such
participation and there is no undue credit, market or legal
risk. These securities were purchased in order to enhance
the Fund’s overall total rate of return.
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The Fund also has invested in one commingled EAFE
(Europe, Australia, Far East) and two commingled S&P
500 index funds. Those funds to a minor extent utilized
futures contracts to maintain a fully invested posture, and
also utilized certain derivative money market instruments
in their short term investment funds. The Fund’s indirect
exposure represented less than 1% of the total portfolio
market value at year end. The Fund has not violated any
legal, regulatory, or contractual provisions by such
participation and there is no undue credit, market or legal
risk.

16. STATE OF OHIO DEATH BENEFIT FUND

Pursuant to Section 742.63 of the Ohio Revised Code, the
Fund administers the State of Ohio Death Benefit Fund.
This program was established by the State of Ohio to
provide monthly benefit payments to surviving family
members of Ohio fire fighters and law enforcement
officers who have been killed in the line of duty or die of a
duty-related accident or illness. Funds are disbursed to the
Fund each State fiscal year (July 1-June 30) and are paid
monthly by the Fund to eligible recipients. The unused
balance at June 30 is returned to the State. Death Benefit
Fund assets of $11,585,278 and $10,559,193, and the
related liability for unpaid benetits are included in the
accompanying financial statements as of December 31,
1996 and 1995, respectively.

a
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES

1. ANALYSIS OF FUNDING PROGRESS
(IN THOUSANDS)

Net assets Pension
As of available for benefit Percentage
January 1, benefits (2)(4) obligation funded (3

1987 $2,661,079 $2,930,400 90.8%
1988 2,852,301 3,381,200 84.4
1989 3,074,215 3,769,400 81.6
1990 3,374,331 4,079,200 32.7
1991 3,579,044 4,426,700 80.9
1992 3,924,473 4,764,700 824
1993 4,137,708 5,132,800 80.6
1994 4,459,812 5,530,600 80.6
1995 4,645,717 5,853,200 79.4
1996 4,968,303 6,220,800 79.9

Unfunded
pension
benefit
Unfunded obligation as
pension a percentage
benefit Covered of covered
obligation (3) ayroll (1)(3 payroll (3)
$ 269321 $ 622,187 43.3%
528,899 651,435 81.2
695,185 692,029 100.5
704,869 732,417 96.2
847,656 778,097 108.9
840,227 822,958 102.1
995,092 871,352 1142
1,070,788 022,988 116.0
1,207,483 984,134 122.7
1,252,497 1,042,638 120.1

(1) Equal to annual average salary multiplied by the

number of members at the valuation date.

(2) The local funds receivable is included in this amount.

This receivable is considered an asset for financial
reporting purposes, but not considered available for
actuarially determined funding status.

(3) Analysis of the dollar amounts of net assets available
for benefits, pension benefit obligation for active and
inactive accounts, and unfunded pension benefit
obligation in isolation can be misleading. Expressing

the net assets available for benefits as a percentage of

the pension benefit obligation for active and inactive

accounts provides one indication of the Fund's funding

status on a going-concem basis. Analysis of this

percentage over time indicates whether the Fund is

becoming financially stronger or weaker. Generally,
8 y 8 bt

the greater this percentage, the stronger the Fund is.
Trends in unfunded pension benefit obligation and
valuation payroll are both affected by inflation.
Expressing the unfunded pension benefit obligation as
a percentage of valuation payroll approximately adjusts
for the effects of inflation and aids analysis of the
Fund’s progress made in accumulating sufficient assets
to pay benefits when due. Generally, the smaller this
percentage, the stronger the Fund is, The actuarial
assumptions for investment return, and post-retirement
mortality are revised periodically based on the Fund’s
experience.

(4) For 1993-1996, net assets available for benefits is net

of the balance of the Health Care Stabilization Fund
established in 1992.
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Year ended

2. REVENUES BY SOURCE

Employer

Employee

Medical
Benefit

State of
Ohio
subsidies

December 31, contributions (1) contributions (1) contributions (2)
1987 $139.543,550 $ 63363415 -
1988 149,640,020 70,671,103 -
1989 © 159,472,669 77,657,290 -
1990 168,224,004 82,529,663 —
1991 178,858,413 87,786,090 -
1992 189,366,606 91,957,848 $2.400,094
1993 200,703,066 97,158,960 5,048,847
1994 213.918,612 103,553,011 4,897,139
1995 223,206,380 109,000,755 4 965,059
1996 236,214,576 115,314,953 5,119,628

$6.635,000
6,470,000
5,857,000
5,674,000
5.429,000
4,927,194
4,645,952
4,405,120
4,182,724
3.945.329

Net
investment

income (3)

$174,772,550
207,473,616
209,006,174
215,178,390
368,882,582
403,209,178
4232 969,125
254,446,930
405,458,383
457,910,608

(1

The contribution requirement for the years presented

was not actuarially determined but rather established
by law under the Ohio Revised Code. Contributions
actually made are in accordance with the legal

requirement.

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.

(2) Member contributions for health care coverage
commenced July I, 1992,

December 31

Year ended

1987
1938
1989
1990
1991
1992
1993
1994
1995
1996

3. EXPENSES BY TYPE

Retirement,
disability and
survivor benefits

$164,367,103
180.575,729
200,702,890
219,768,664
239,464.824
260.762,112
281.418.240
301,511,992
324887415
348.708.224

Health care
benefits

$39,465.273
43,703,422
47,818,789
52,979.696
61,748,019
67,419.506
63,135402
63,698,537
70,170,717
71,674.335

Refund of
employee

contributions

52915311
3,528,968
3,906,362
3.768.579
2,540,360
3,723,998
5.007473
3,831.328
5,553,638
5,602,382

See accompanying independent auditors' report.
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Employer

. contributions
Interest on local Other as a percentage
funds receivable income Total of covered payroll

$17,508,079 - $ 643,607 $ 402,466,201 214
19,902,971 1,435,015 455,592,725 214
17,257,042 325,775 559,575,950 214
16,391,934 1,190,386 489,188,377 21.4
17,148,388 49,579 658,154,052 212
17,411,423 139,736 709,612,079 214
16,026,269 728,798 747,281,017 214
12,067,479 1,107,499 294,395,790 21.5

8,926,285 984,775 756,724,361 21.3
8,798,709 2,066,406 829,370,209 21.5
(3) For 1987 net realized gain on sale of investments is
excluded.
Loss on
write-down
of local
Administrative Other funds
expenses expense receivable Total
$ 3,903,646 $ 592,220 - $211,243,553
5,341,465 529,537 - 233,679,121
6,601,071 431,049 - 259,460,161
7,602,060 : 355,696 - 284,474,695
8,200,798 771,421 == 312,725.422
8,475,243 1,088,276 - 341,469,135
9,063,687 1,545,134 351,969,625 412,139,561
10,442,185 030,434 11,455,963 391,870,439
14,066,160 392317 167,105 415,237,352
17,778,992 312,44) - 444.076,374
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4. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996 AND 1995

1996 1995

Personnel Services:
Administrative salaries $ 3,675,872 $ 3,154,357
Employee benefits 506,178 421,523
Employer contributions-PERS 451,489 400,143

4,633,539 3,976,023
Professional services 10,387,647 8,036,138
Other services and charges:
Equipment-rental and maintenance 186,882 155,900
Travel expenses 109,642 62,568
Postage 237447 235,487
Printing 169,529 70,340
Insurance—administrative 90,036 78,252
Office supplies and maintenance 183,094 172,828
Utilities 110,865 140,468
Ohio Retirement Study Commission 40,573 33,551
Dues and subscriptions 37,966 32,735
Depreciation expenses 661,923 572,119
Miscellaneous expenses 8,474 71,950
Rent 921,375 427,801

2,757,806 2,053,999

Total administrative expenses $17,778,992 $14,066,160

Sec accompanying independent auditors’ report.
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5. REFUNDS OF EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS

Year Ended

December 31 Police Fire Total
1987 $2,307,728 $ 607,383 $2.915,311
1988 2,562,415 966,553 3,528,968
1989 2,802,932 1,103,430 3,906,362
1990 2,750,115 1,018,464 3,768,579
1991 1,904,000 636,360 2,540,360
1992 2,670,680 1,053,318 3,723,998
1993 3,752,052 1,255,421 3,007,473
1994 2,900,754 930,574 3,831,328
1995 3,694,184 1,859,454 5,553,638
1996 4,387,177 1,215,205 5,602,382

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.

Police and Firemen's Disability and Pension Fund of Ohio FINANCIAL SECTION 27



SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES
1. FUND BALANCE ACCOUNTS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996

Description of Accounts (Funds)

Chapter 742 of the Ohio Revised Code requires the
establishment and maintenance of specific funds. These
funds are classitied as accounts for financial reporting
purposes and are noted as follows:

(A) Members’ Contribution Funds

The Policemen’s and Firemen's Contribution Funds
accumulate the contributions deducted from the sularies of
members. Upon retirement, a member s accumulated
contributions are transferred to the Policemen's or
Firemen's Pension Reserve Fund.

(B) Employers’ Contribution Funds

The Policemen and Firemen Employers® Contribution
Funds are the depositories for employer contributions,
Based on actuarial valuations, amounts are transferred from
this fund to the Policemen's and Firemen's Pension
Reserve Fund.

(C) Pension Reserve Funds

The Policemen's and Firemen's Pension Reserve Funds are
the funds from which all retirement, disability, health care
and survivor benefits are paid. Amounts are transferred into
the Pension Reserve Funds from the Contribution Funds
and the Employers' Contribution Funds.

Members’
Contribution Funds

Employers’
Contribution Funds

Police
Fund balance at beginning of year 5468.407.337
Changes for the year:
Contributions:
Employers -
Employees 66,644,729

Medical benefits -
State of Ohio subsidies -
Death benefit fund -
Investment income -
Interest on local funds’ receivable -
Other income -
Benefits:
Retirement -
Disability -
Health care -
Survivor -
Death benefit fund -
Loss on write-downs of long-term
local funds receivable -~
Administrative expenses
Refund of employee contributions
Other expenses
Transfers

(4.387,177)

(26.769.771)

Fire Fighters Police Fire IFighters

$356,026,071 $795,045,064 $563,797.234

- 122,877913 113,336,662
48,670,224 - -

- 4,352,555

4,446,155

(1,215,205) = -

(17,060,196) (108,691,392) (56,916,583)

Net Changes 35487781

30,394,823 18,539.076 60,866,234

Fund balance at end of year $503.895.118

$386,420,894 5813.584,140 $624,663,468

See accompanying independent auditors® report.
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(D)

The Guarantee Fund records all investment earnings of the

Guarantee Fund

Fund. In addition, contributions from the State of Ohio,
exclusive of death benefit contributions, are recorded in

this fund. Annually, investment eamings are transferred to

the Pension Reserve Funds and the Expense Fund.

(E) Expense Fund

The Expense Fund is used to record all expenses for the
administration and management of the Fund. Annually,
funds are transferred from the Guarantee Fund lo cover
expenses incurred.

(F) Death Benefit Fund

The Death Benefit Fund is used to record the death benefit

contributions from the State of Ohio and the death benefit
payments made to a spouse or dependent of a member

on active duty as a policeman or fireman.

whose death resulted from injury or illness sustained while

Annuitant & Guarantee Expense Death
Pension Reserve Funds Fund Fund Benefit Fund Totals
Police Fire Fighters 1995 1994
$1,660,021,330 $1,328472,749 3 0 s 0 S 0 35,171,769,785 $4,830,282,776
- = - - = 236,214,373 223,206,377
- - - - - 115,314,953 109,000,755
= - 5,119,628 - - 5,119.628 4,965,059
- - 3,945,329 - - 3,945,329 4,182,724
- - - - 18,243,146 18.243,146 14,385,716
- = 457,910,608 — - 457,910,608  405.458,383
= - - - - 8,798,710 8,926,285
- - 2,066.406 - - 2,066,406 984,777
(120,422,943) (105,025,432) - - - (225448.375)  (207.355,087)
(54,137,250) (37,501,585) - - - (91.638,535) (86,763,675 )
(38,268.581) (33,405,754) - - - (71,674.335)  (70.170.717)
(17.876,513) (13,744,499) - - - (31,621,014) (30,768,653 )
- = - - (18,243,146) (18.243,146) (14,385,716)
- - - = - - (167,105)
- - - (17,778,992) - (17,778,992) (14,091,357 )
55 - — - - (5,602,382) (5.553,638)
— - (312441 - - (312,441) (367,119)
383,483,939 276,904,521 (468,729.530) 17.778.992 = = —
152,778,670 87,227.251 0 0 0 385,293,835 341,487,009
$1,812.800,000 S$1,415,700,000 S 0 S 0 S 0 $5,557,063,620 55,171,769,785
Police and Firemen's Disubility and Pension Fund of Qhio FINANCIAL SECTION 29



2. PROFESSIONAL CONSULTANTS

Actuary:
Watson Wyatt Worldwide

Auditors:
Deloitte & Touche LLp

Legal Counsel:
Attorney General Betty Montgomery

Investment Consultants:
Callan Associates, Inc.
Wilshire Associates Inc.
The Townsend Group

Real Estate

AEW Capital Management

Cabot Parmers

DLS Real Estate Capital Parters, Inc.
Equitable Real Estate Investment Management
Lowe Enterprises Investment Management
MIG Realty Advisors

The RREEF Funds

Schroeder Real Estate Associates

TA Associates Realty

Westbrook Partners, LLC

Westmark Realty Advisors

Yarmouth Capital Partners

Investment Vanagers:

Equity

Atalanta/Sosnoff Capital Corporation
Bankers Trust Company

Bond Procope Capital Management
Capital Guardian Trust Company
Fleet Financial Advisors, Inc.
Geltand Partners Asset Management
Invesco Trust Company

Lakefront Capital Investors, Inc.
Lombard Odier International Portfolio Management, Ltd.
Nicholas-Applegate Capital Management
Oppenheimer Capital

Scudder, Stevens & Clark, Inc.

Smith Bamey Capital Management
Society Asset Management

Value Line Asset Management

Fixed Income

Brinson Partners, Inc.

Venture Capital

Alpha Capital Partners

Blue Chip Venture Partners

Brantley Venture Partners

Cardinal Development Capital Fund
Chemicals & Materials Enterprise
Morgenthaler Ventures

North Coast Fund, L.P.

Northwest Ohio Venture Fund

Primus Venture Partners
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3. INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT FEES

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996

INVESTMENT MANAGER MANAGEMENT FEES

Oppenheimer Capital $1,316,405
Equitable Real Estate Investment Management Inc. 1,033,564

Nicholas-Applegate 997,512
Invesco Trust Co., Inc. 830,705
Atlanta/Sosnoff Capital Corporation 648,903
Fleet Investment Advisors 575,678
Society Asset Management 565,931
The RREEF Funds 555,000
Capital Guardian Trust Co. 470,710
Bankers Trust Company 447,579
Lombard Odier International 421,372
Scudder, Stevens & Clark, Inc. 414,140
Cabot Partners LP 404,452
Smith Barney Capital Management 389,708
Schroder Real Estate Associates 387,172
The Townsend Group 365,671
Value Line Asset Management 344,859
Gelfand Partners 335,499
Lowe Enterprises 311,994
Bond, Procope Capital Mgt, 309,318
Brinson Partners, Inc. 121,592
Lakefront Capital Investment Inc. 64,946

See accompanying independent auditors' report,
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1. ACTUARY’S CERTIFICATION LETTER

The Wyatt Company
Watson Wyatt Suite 1400

Wasidnidle 1801 East Ninth Street
Cleveland, OH 44114-3149

Telephone 216 696 6250
Fax 216 6870675

May 16, 1997

Board of Trustees
The Police and Firemen's Disability
and Pension Fund of Ohio

140 East Town Street
Columbus, Ohio 43215

Gentlemen:

Watson Wyatt Worldwide, as Actuary, prepares an actuarial valuation of The Police and Firemen's Disability and
Pension Fund of Ohio on an annual basis. The purpose of the valuation is to determine contribution rates for
disability and retirement benefits based on sound actuarial principles, For retiree health care benefits, the
valuation reports on the adequacy of a 6.5% contribution rate with respect to maintaining the Health Care
Stabilization Fund at a reasonable value. The actuarially determined contribution rates for pension and disability
benefits, in conjunction with the 6.5% assumed health care rate, are to be used to access the adequacy of
contribution rates provided under Sections 742.33 and 742.34 of the Revised Code. The most recent actuarial
valuation was as of January 1, 1996.

The actuarial valuations are based upon census data and audited financial information submitted by the Fund.
Watson Wyatt Worldwide checks the data for reasonability. Information suspected of being in ervor is submitted
to the Fund for correction.

‘The actuarial assumptions used in the valuation are recommended by Watson Wyatt and approved by the Board.
The decrement assumptions reflect actual Fund experience as measured in the quinquennial evaluations. The
1996 valuation reflects rates of mortality, termination from employment and remarriage of surviving spouses as
developed in the quinquennial evaluation covering the period 1987 through 1991, The rates of disablement and
the distribution of disabilities by type are based on expericnce for 1987 through 1993. The rates of retirement are
based on experience during the period 1990 through 1993. The assumed mortality for future disabilitics
represents i two-year age setback in the 1987-1991 experience rates for disabled [ives.

The interest rate and salary scale assumptions reflect both recent sulary increases and Fund rates of return along
with expected returns and salary increases over a long period in the future. The 1996 valuation is based on the
same assumptions as used in the 1993 valuation.
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For most asset classes the actuarial value of assets used in the valuation is the cost value as presented in the
audited Financial Statements reduced by (1) the value of the employer accrued liability, (2) the member
contributions which have yet to be refunded to members who terminated with less than 15 years of service, (3)
Total Liabilities and (4) the reported value of the Health care Stabilization Fund. In addition, the actuarial value of
stocks is determined under the 4-Year Market Adjustment method, under which realized and unrealized gains or
losses are recognized in the assets over 4-year periods.

The benefit provisions valued in the valuation report reflect the status of the Revised Code as of the valuation
date.

The financial objective of The Police and Firemen's Disability and Pension Fund of Ohio is to collect employers'
and members’ contributions which, when expressed as percentages of the payroll for active members, separately
for police and firemen, are close in value to the actuarially determined contributions. The actuarially determined
contributions, in turn, are such that together with existing assets, including expected payments on the cities’ initial
unfunded liability and expected future investment earnings, they will fully provide for all expected pension,
disability, and death benefit payments for current members if such contributions are made over the future working

lifetime of the active members.

Under current law, the actuarially determined contributions plus 6.5% Health Care Stabilization Fund allocation
are to be compared to the statutory contributions to determine if the statutory contributions are adequate. Based
upon the results of the 1996 valuation and the 15-year forecast prepared in 1994 by the Whyalt, it is our opinion
that the current statutory rales are adequate for 1996,

Under current law the Ohio Retirement Study Commission is to review the actuarial report and make
recommendations to the General Assembly concemning proper financing of the Fund. This policy of actuarial
contribution rate determination, review, and, if necessary, legislative change in the statutory rates should ensure
that the financial condition of the Fund remains sound.

Respectfully Submitted,
WATSON WYATT WORLDWIDE

w%£ Dao(o

Wayne E. Dydo
Fellow — Society of Actuaries

WED:mm
h \whp&idbygenfotherlGbath_6 diw
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2. SUMMARY OF ACTUARIAL
ASSUMPTIONS AND METHODS

A. INTEREST

Arate of 8'/,% per annum, compounded annually.

B. RATES AND OTHER ASSUMPTIONS
AMONG ACTIVE MEMBERS

1. Before Retirement:
(a) Mortality:

Mortality is based on the 1951 Group Annuity Mortality
Table projected to 1980 using Scale C, with a one-year set-
forward in age. The projected values are multiplied by 0.5
at all ages to obtain the assumed mortality rates. The
following rates at selected ages are illustrative:

Rate of Mortality
Age Police Fire
25 000307 .000307
30 .000406 .000406
35 000369 000569
40 .000845 .000845
45 .001568 .001568
50 .002773 002773
55 004377 004377

(b) Termination:

The rates of termination are based upon the results of the
1987-1991 Quinquennial Evaluation. The following rates at
sclected ages are illustrative:

Rate of Termination

Age Police Fire

25 047001 016655
30 031525 015071
35 .022161 012432
40 .014759 007482
45 .009658 .004385
50 012847 .004884

Note: The present values of future benefits for active
members resulting from the use of these withdrawal rates
are actuarially adjusted to include provision for prospective
terminated employees eligible for vested termination
benefits arising from the vesting provisions of the 197
Amended Substitute Senate Bill No. 137.

(c) Disability:

. The rates of disability are based upon the disability
experience for 1992 and 1993. The following rates at
selected ages are illustrative:

Rate of Disability

Age Police Fire
25 001175 .000236
30 .002370 001254
35 005326 .002934
40 011544 .007136
45 .021970 015119
50 .033918 .028520
55 051672 046271

Note: The present values of future benefits for active
members resulting from the use of these disability rates
reflect the fact that the occurrence of disability by type
approximates the following

Police Fire
On duty permanent
and total 22% 27%
On duty partial 75 70
Oft duty ordinary 3 3

(d) Salary Increase Rate:

The per annum rates of future salary increase can be
divided into two component parts: (i) inflationary increase
of 4% per year and (ii) age-graded promotional increases as
follows:

Promotional Total
Age(s) Increase Increase
under 30 3.00% 7.00%
30-34 1.75% 5.75%
over 34 1.00% 5.00%

(e) Retirement:

The rates of retirement are based upon the experience
during the periods 1989 through 1993. These rates are
applicable after the member has satistied the conditions for
retirement. The rates are as follows:

Police Fire
Age(s) Rate Age(s) Rate
48

Police and Firemen's Disability and Pension Fund of Ohio

0.35 48 0.35
49-53 0.25 49-59 0.25
54-60 0.20 60-64 0.35
61-64 0.25 65 1.00
65 1.00
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2. After Retirement:
(a) On Service Retirement Pension:

The mortality, after retirement of active members expected
to go on service retirement, is based on the 1951 Group
Annuity Mortality Table as Projected to 1980 using Scale
C, with a one-year set-forward in age. The following
probabilities at selected ages are illustrative:

Probability

55 008753
60 013012
65 .020979
70 .033316
75 056741
80 .099390
85 .158333
90 236172
95 316061

(b) On Disability Retirement Pension:

The mortality, after retirement of active members expected
to go on disability retirement, is based on the results of the
1987-1991 Quinguennial Evaluation. The rates are based
on the 1951 Group Annuity Mortality Table projected to
1980 using Scale C and include loads for disability. These
rates are then set-back by two years in age to reflect the
greater percentage of partial disabilities. The following
probabilities at selected ages are illustrative:

Probability

Age of Mortality
35 008424
45 009636
55 016736
65 035482
75 .060183
85 136516
95 265027

C. PROBABILITIES OF MORTALITY
AMONG PENSIONERS

1. Nondisabled Pensioners:

The mortality among all nondisabled retirants is equal to
the 1951 Group Annuity Mortality Table rates projected to
1930 using Scale C, with a one-year set-forward in age.
The following probabilities at selected ages are illustrative:

Probability

Age of Mortality
35 001138
40 001691
45 003136
50 005545
55 .008753
60 013012
63 .020979
70 033316
75 056741
80 .099390
85 158333
90 236172
95 316061

2. Disabled Pensioners:

The mortality among all disabled retirants is based on the
1951 Group Annuity Mortality Table projected to 1980
using Scale C and includes loads for disability. The
following probabilities at selected ages are illustrative:

Probability

Age of Mortality
35 008560
40 .009043
45 010262
50 012495
55 018051
60 022001
65 .038838
70 .050322
75 071826
80 11137
85 168254
90 222882
95 297806

D. PROBABILITIES AMONG SURVIVORS

1. Probabilities of Mortality
Among Surviving Spouses:

The mortality among all present surviving spouses is based
on the Projected Annuity Mortality Table rates, decreased
by 15% at all ages. The following probabilitics at selected
ages are illustrative:
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Probability

Age of Mortality
35 001326
40 .001938
45 002950
50 004471
35 .006775
60 010464
65 016448
70 026121
75 042560
80 067465
85 102527
90 151530
95 219657
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2. Probability of Remarriage
Among Surviving Spouses:

The probabilities of remarriage of surviving spouses are
based upon the results of the 1987-1991 Quinquennial
Evaluation. The following probabilities at selected ages are
illustrative:

Probability
Age of Remarriage
35 030686
40 025594
45 017015
50 008101
55 0062235
60 005491
65 002442
70 001092
75 000491

3. Dependent Children:

No specific allowance has been made, in the valuation ol
this benefit, for the probability of mortality prior to age 18,
or the probability of disability at age 18 and thereafter. In
valuing the benefit beyond age 18, it is assumed that '/, of
the dependent children will be students and eligible for
payments to age 22.

4. Dependent Parents:

Costs based upon allowance for mortality (the Projected
Annuity Mortality Table rates), but no specific allowance
for change in dependency status.

E. COLA ANNUITIES

[t has been assumed that, where an election is possible, all
members will elect the COLA annuity. [t has also been
assumed that the Consumer Price Index will increase each
year at a rate equal o or greater than 3%.

F. EXPENSE LOADING

The net costs were loaded by ¥, ol 1% to allow for future
administrative expenses of the Fund.

G. ACTUARIAL COSTMETHOD

The “frozen initial liability” method has been used in
developing the required contributions to the Fund. Under
this approach, the present value of future benefits is
reduced by valuation assets and the present value of the
employer accrued liability. This net amount is then
expressed as a percentage of the present value of active
member future compensation and that percentage is applied
to current payroll to determine the actual contribution.

The employer accrued liability was determined for each
separate police and firemen’s fund as of April 1, 1966.
Each employer with an existing liability is presently
making payments at the rate of 3% of the original liability
(adjusted for any excess payments) pursuant to the
schedule set torth in Section 742.30 of the Ohio Revised
Code.

The assumptions used for the actuarial valuation were
adopted by the Board of Trustees after consulting with the
actuary. Ditferences between assumed and actual
experience (actuarial gains and losses) become part of
unfunded actuarial acerued liabilities. When these
differences between assumed and actual experience have
been observed to be sizeable and persistent a change is
made to the actuarial assumption.

H. VALUATION ASSETS

Valuation assets equal the net cost (book) value of all Fund
assets, except common and preferred stocks wre included in
valuation assets with a value equal to that developed under
the 4-year Market Adjustment Method, with an initial value
equal to market value. Under this method realized and
unrealized gains are recognized in the assets over o 4-year
period: valuation assets equal market value less 75% of the
previous year's realized and unrealized gains, 50% of the
second previous year's realized and unrealized gains, and
25% of the third previous year’s realized and unrealized
guins, The balance in the Health Care Stabilization Fund is
excluded from total assets to arrive at valuation assets for
pension and disability benefits. Contributions due to be
refunded to terminated members are also excluded from
valuation assets.

I. CHANGES INACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS

The original actuarial assumptions have been moditied
thirteen times since their adoption in 1966, The changes
were as follows,

(1) 1970 valuation:
* The interest rate was increased from 4'/ % to 45/3%.
(2) 1972 valuation:
» The interest rate was increased rom 4’/_\.% o4y .

+ A loading was adopted to provide for the cost of 1972
Senate Bill No. 137 that, among other things. provided
for special service retirement for late hires, vesting of
service pension after 15 years of service under a 1'/,%
formula, and vesting of service pension after 25 years of
service under the 2% formula.

(3) 1974 valuation:
+ The interest rate was further increased from 4Y,% to 5%.
« Adjustments were made in $ix assumption areas as a

result of the findings in our first quinquennial
evaluation; those adjustments were as follows:

(a) The termination rates for active members were
increased by approximately two-thirds of the
former rates;

(b) the mortality rates for active members eliminated
the original accidental loading of .001;

(c) thedisability rates for active members were
increased by 25% for ages above 40, grading down
to a reduction of rates by 50% for ages below 30;
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(d) the mortality rates for retirants were increased by
50% (instead of the former 10% load) of the
standard tables rates before age 65, grading down
to a decrease of 20% after age 85;

(e) the mortality rates for widows were reduced by
15% at all ages; and

()  the remarriage rates for widows were increased by
300% at ages prior to 45, grading down to an
increase of 50% after age 60.

(4) 1979 valuation:
+ The interest rate was increased from 5% to 6%.
+ The salary scale was increased from 3% to 4'/,%.

+ The projected final salary was increased by 4% to allow
for the sick pay allowance.

« The assumed retirement age was increased from 56 to
57 years for police and decreased from 58 to 57 years
for firemen.

+ Adjustments were made in four other assumption areas
as a result of the findings in our second quinquennial
evaluation; those adjustments were as follows:

(a) the termination rates for active members were
decreased by approximately 20%;

(b) the disability rates for active members were
increased by over 200%;

(¢) the assumption that all disabilities are on-duty-
permanent and total was changed to provide for
35% of-duty-partial and 5% off-duty-ordinary;

(d) the remarriage rates for widows were decreased by
approximately 40%.

(5) 1980 valuation:

« The interest rate was further increased from 6% to 6',%.
(6) 1983 valuation:

» The interest rate was increased from 6J/H% to 7'/,%.

» The salary scale was increased from 4'/,% to 5'/,%.

+ The terminal pay adjustment was increased from 4% to
3%.

+ The assumed retirement age was decreased from 57 to
55 for both police and firemen.

= Asaresult of the third quinquennial evaluation, the
mortality rates for active firemen were decreased by
33%.

(7) 1986 valuation:
- The interest rate was increased from 7‘/:% to 7-‘/4%.
(8) 1987 valuation:

« The 13% terminal pay adjustment was replaced with the
assumption that all active members would retire under
the COLA annuity.

« In valuing the COLA annuity, it is assumed that each

year the change in the Consumer Price Index will be at
least 3%.

(9) 1988 valuation:

.

A decrease in the termination rates to the graduated
1982-86 experience rates.

An increase in the disability rates to the graduated 1982-
86 experience rates.

A change in the service retirement assumption from a
fixed age of 55 or, if later, after satistying the conditions
for retirement, to rates based upon the 1982-86
experience. The rates are applicable for ages 48 through
65.

A change in the post retirement mortality probabilities
for retired members to separate sets of probabilities for
nondisabled retirees and disabled retirees.

A decrease in the probabilities of remarriage among
surviving spouses to the graduated 1982-86 experience
rates.

(10) 1989 valuation:

The interest rate increased from 7Y o 108!/ %.
The salary scale increased from 5'/,% to 5%, %.

New retirement rates have been developed for ages 48
through 52 to account for the effect of increased
retirement of those ages.

The assumption as to the occurrence of disability by
type has been changed to reflect recent experience,
which shows more partial and fewer permanent and total
disabilities.

(11) 1992 valuation:

.

The method of determining the value of Fund assets was
changed. Assets are valued at an amount not less than
85% of market value nor more than 115% of market
value,

(12) 1993 valuation:

Adjustments were made in four areas as a result of the

fin

dings of the Fund's fourth quinquennial evaluation,

which covered the years 1987 through 1991:

(a)

A change in the termination rates to the graduated
1987-91 experience rates. In general the rates
decreased.

b) A change in the 5.75% salary scale to an age-graded
g ge-g

(c)

salary increase assumption.

Changes in the pre- and post-retirement mortality
probabilities for active members, service retirees and
disability retirees. All of these probabilities arc to be
based on the 1951 Group Annuily Mortality Table
projected to 1980.

(d) A decrease in the probabilities of remarriage among

surviving spouses to the graduated 1987-91
experience rates.
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The method of determining the value of Fund assets was
changed. For stocks, the value is that amount determined
under the 4-year Market Adjustment Method, with an
initial value equal to market value, less $2,696,000 of
contributions that have yet to be refunded to employees
with less than 15 years of service.

The valuation recognized the establishment of the Health
Care Stabilization Fund which was created in 1992,
Initially $150,000,000 was allocated for future health care
expenses. The fund is credited with retiree health care
contributions, a portion of employer contributions equal to
6.5% of payroll, and 8.25% eftective annual interest, and
charged for all medical expense payments, including
Medicare reimbursements. The fund value is excluded
from valuation assets.

(13) 1994 valuation:

+ A change in the retirement rates to reflect experience for
the period 1990-1993.

+ A change in the rates of disability incidence to reflect the
results of the 1987-1991 Quinquennial Report and the
1992-93 experience study.

« A change in the assumed distribution of disability to
reflect a higher proportion of partial disabilities,

+ A change in the post-disability mortality assumption for
active members.

- 3. ACTIVE MEMBER VALUATION DATA

1987 TO 1996
Actuarial Percentage of Annual
Valuation Number of Number of Active Average Annual Average Annual Payroll
asof Jan. 1 Employers Members Salary Salary Increases (millions)
Police Fire Police Fire Police Fire Police Fire
1987 12,652 9,231 $28,443 $28,418 5.4% 5.4% $622.2
1988 523 278 12,862 9,292 29,391 29,424 33 3.5 651.4
1989 520 288 12,993 9,374 30,853 31,060 5.0 5.6 692.0
1990 526 292 13,088 9,698 32,351 31,863 3.5 2.6 732.4
1991 533 297 13,273 9,801 33910 33,467 4.8 5.0 7178.1
1992 533 297 13,325 9.996 35,305 33,266 4.1 54 823.0
1993 545 288 13,540 10,149 36,783 36,783 42 43 871.3
1994 552 293 13,851 10,340 38,017 38,338 34 42 923.0
1995 559 299 14,072 10,511 39,951 40,143 5.1 4.7 984.1
1996 574 310 14,558 10,728 41,017 41,528 2.7 35 1,042.6

Information concerning employer numbers is not readily available for years before 1988.

4. SUMMARY OF UNFUNDED
ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Each time a new benefit is added which applies to service
already rendered, an “unfunded accrued lability” is
created. The “unfunded accrued liability” was developed
for funding requirement determinations. The value differs
from the unfunded Pension Benefit Obligation reported in
the financial statements because different actuarial cost
methods were used for the two purposes. Laws govering
the Fund require that “unfunded accrued liability” be
financed systermatically over a period of future years. Also,
if actual financial experiences are less favorable than
assumed financial experiences, the difference is added to
unfunded acerued liabilities.

In an inflationary economy, the value of the dollar is
decreasing,. This environment results in employee pay
increasing in dollar amounts and retirement benefits
increasing in dollar amounts resulting in unfunded accrued
liabilities increasing in dollar amounts, all at a time when
the actual substance of these items may be decreasing.
Looking at just the dollar amounts of unfunded accrued
liabilities can be misleading. Unfunded accrued liabilities’
dollars divided by active employee payroll dollars provides
an index which clarifies understanding. The smaller the
ratio of unfunded liabilities to active member payroll, the
stronger the system. Observation of this relative index over
a period of years will give an indication of whether the
system is becoming financially stronger or weaker.
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SUMMARY OF UNFUNDED ACCRUED LIABILITIES (continued)

($ Amounts in Thousands)
Unfunded
Actuarial Actuarial (B) UAALasa
Accrued (A) Accrued Ratio of Active % of Active
Valuation Liabilities Valuation Liabilities Assets ivlember Member

Poice Year (AAL) Assets (UAAL) to AAL Payroll Payroll
1987 $2,400,100  $1,246,100 51,154,000 52% $359.9 321%
1988 2,607,400 1,341,700 1,265,700 51 378.0 335
1989 2,810,100 1,499,800 1,310,300 53 400.8 327
1990 3.038,600 1,648,500 1,390,100 54 4234 328
1991 3,264,700 1,769,000 1,495,700 54 450.1 332
1992 3,493,000 2,056,600* 1,436,400 59 470.4 305
1993 3,806,500 2252 113* 1,554,387 59 498.0 312
1994 4,088,300 2.432,000* 1,656,343 59 526.6 315
1995 4,348,200 2,571.300% 1,776,900 59 562.2 316
1996 4,640,700 2,746,000% 1,894,700 59 597.1 317

Fire
1987 $2,008,400 $ 985,100 $1,023,300 49% $262.3 390%
1988 2,200,700 1,094,400 1,106,300 50 273.4 405
1989 2,365,400 1,159,300 1,206,100 49 291.2 414
1990 2,535,000 1,313,000 1,222,000 32 309.0 395
1991 2,678,600 1,401,200 1,277,400 52 328.0 389
1992 2,882,700 1.621.900* 1,260,800 56 3525 358
1993 3,019,700 1.775,354%* 1,244,346 59 3733 333
1994 3,227,800 1.925.800%* 1,301,947 60 396.4 328
1995 3,409,200 2,054,200* 1,355,000 60 421.9 321
1996 3,604,700 2,204,200* 1,400,500 6l 4455 314

*includes market adjustment

(A) Valuation assets are based upon the following:

For 1993 through 1996-net assets available for benefits as
provided in the December 31, 1992 through 1995 audited
financial statements, adjusted to value assels to an amount
determined using the 4-Year Market Adjustment Methed,
with an initial value equal to market value, less the local
funds receivable, contributions which had yet to be
refunded to employees who terminated with less than 15
years of service, and the value of the Health Care
Stabilization Fund.

For 1992-net assets available for benefits as provided in
the December 31, 1991 audited financial statements,
adjusted to value assets at an amount not less than 85% of
market value nor more than 115% of market value, less the
local funds receivable and contributions which had yet to
be refunded to employees who terminated with less than 15
years of service.

For 1988 through [991-net assets available for benefits as
provided in the December 31, 1987, 1988, 1989 and 1990,
respectively, audited financial statements, less the local
funds receivable and contributions which had yet to be
refunded to employees who terminated with less than 15
yeurs of service.

For 1987—cost value of assets as reported by the Fund, less
amounts reserved to the Death Benefit Fund, less
contributions which had yet to be refunded to the
employees who terminated with less than 135 years of
service and plus member contributions which had not been
deposited as of the reporting date.

(B) Equal to average salary multiplied by the number
of members at the valuation date,
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5. SHORT-TERM SOLVENCY TEST

Accrued Liabilities ($ Amounts in Thousands)

Aggaregate Accrued Liability For:

(1) (2) (3) Portion of Accrued
: Active Retirants Active Members Liabilities Covered
Valuation Member and (Employer Financed Valuation by Reported Assets
Police Year Contributions  Beneficiaries Portion) Assets (1) (2) 3)
1987 $231,300 $ 702,200 31,466,600 51,246,100 100% 100% 21%
1988 252,600 773,900 1,580,900 1,341,700 100 100 20
1989 278,500 907,300 1,624,300 1,499,800 100 100 19
1990 301,000 1,042,400 1,699,300 1,648,500 100 100 18
1991 325,600 1,159,100 1,785,200 1,769,000 100 100 16
1992 349,700 1,287.200 1,856,100 2,056,600% 100 100 23
1993 379,000 1,423,800 2,003,700 2,252,113* 100 100 22
1994 409,300 1,557,200 2,121,800 2,243,000% 100 100 22
1995 437,900 1,659,400 2,250,900 2,571,300 100 100
1996 468,200 1,812,800 2,359,700 2,746,000 100 100 20
Fire
1987 $168,000 $ 660,700 $1,179,700 $ 985,100 100% 100% 13%
1988 184,000 717,200 1,299,500 1,094,400 100 100 15
1989 199,200 844,300 1,321,900 1,159,300 100 100
1990 217,300 935,600 1,384,600 1,313,000 100 100 12
1991 237,500 1,001,900 1,443,400 1,401,200 100 100 1
1992 258,800 1,081,900 1,541,900 1,621,900% 100 100 18
1993 281,300 1,175,100 1,563,300 1,775,354* 100 100 20
1994 305,800 1.271,900 1,650,100 1,925,800% 100 100 21
1995 332,300 1,328,200 1,748,800 2,054,200* 100 100 22
1996 356,300 1,415,700 1,832,700 2,204,200% 100 100 24

*includes market adjustment

The Fund's financing objective is to pay for the benefits
through contributions that remain approximately level from
year to year as a percent of member payroll. If the
contributions to the system ure level in concept and soundly
execuled, the system will pay all promised benefits when
due—the ultimate test of financial soundness.

A short-term solvency test is one means of checking o
system’s progress under its funding program. In a short-
term solvency test, the plan's valuation assets are compared
with: [) Active member contributions on deposit; 2) The
liabilities for future benefits to present retired lives; 3) The

liabilities for service already rendered by active members.
In a system that has been following the discipline of level
percent of payroll financing, the liabilities for active
member contributions on deposit (liability 1) and the
linbilities for future benefits to present retired lives (liability
2) will be fully covered by present assets (excepl in rare
circumstances). In addition, the liabilities for service
already rendered by active members (liability 3) will be
partially covered by the remainder of present assets.
Generally, if the system has been using level cost financing,
the funded portion of liability 3 will increase over time.
Liability 3 being fully funded is very rare.
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6. RECOMMENDED AND ACTUAL
CONTRIBUTION RATES

Year Police Fire
(% of active member payroll) (% of active member payroll)

Recommended Actual Recommended Actual
1987 31.12 29.00 34.11 33.50
1988 32.38 29.50 34.02 34.00
1989 34.49 29.50 37.82 34.00
1990 34.28 29.50 35.60 34.00
1991 36.05 29.50 36.41 34.00
1992 33.78 29.50 34.18 34.00
1993 33.16 29.50 32.13 34.00
1994 34.78 29.50 32.62 34.00
1995 36.26 29.50 33.55 34.00
1996 36.28 29.50 33.07 34.00

7. RETIRANTSAND BENEFICIARIES ADDED
TO AND REMOVED FROM ROLLS

Year Police Fire
at Jan. 1 Additions Deletions Additions Deletions

1987 589 351 426 277
1988 612 499 476 417
1989 587 360 507 292
1990 579 304 413 240
1991 675 373 466 289
1992 813 397 566 362
1993 671 342 504 320
1994 665 332 517 304
1995 677 379 464 301
1996 821 391 580 366
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8. PLAN SUMMARY

PURPOSE

The Police and Firemen's Disability and Pension Fund of
Ohio (the Fund) was established by the Ohio General
Assembly to provide disability benefits and pensions to
members of the Fund and their surviving spouses, children,
and dependent parents.

ADMINISTRATION

The administration, control, and management of the Fund
are vested in the Police and Firemen's Disability and
Pension Board of Ohio which is comprised of nine
members as follows:

« Three representatives of police departments

= Three representatives of fire depariments

+ One municipal fiscal officer

« The Auditor of State

+ The Attomney General

The representatives of police and fire departments are
elected for four-year terms by the members with one being
a retired member or surviving spouse, alternating between
the police and fire. The municipal fiscal officer is appointed
by the Governor.

The Auditor of State and Attorney General serve by virtue
of their office and are also members of other state
retirement boards.

The Board appoints an executive director as the chief
administrative ofticer of the Fund. The executive director
oversees the daily activity of the staft,

MEMBERSHIP

Membership in the Fund is mandatory under Ohio law for
all full-time police ofticers employed by Ohio
municipalities. Full-time fire fighters employed by
townships, municipalities, township joint fire districts or
other political subdivisions must become members of the
Fund if satisfactory completion of a fire fighter training
course approved under Section 3303.07 or conducted under
Section 3737.33 of the Ohio Revised Code is required for
employment.

CONTRIBUTIONS

Contributions are established by statute. Employers of
police officers pay 19.5% of salary; employers of fire
fighters pay 24% of salary. Members contribute 10% of
salary.

BENEFITS

A. Service Retirement

Upon attaining a qualifying age with sufficient service
credit, a member of the Fund may retire and receive
lifetime monthly cash pension.

1. Normal Pension
(a) Eligibility: Age 48 and 25 years of service.

(b) Benefit: An annual pension equal to a percentage of
the average annual salary. The percentage equals 2.5% for

each of the first 20 years of service, 2% for each of the next
five years of service, and 1.5% for each year of service in
excess of 25 years, to a maximum of 72% of the average
annual salary. Average annual salary means one-third of the
total salary during the three years of highest eamnings.

2. Age Commuted

(a) Eligibility: Age 62 and 15 years of service

(b) Benefit: The same formula applies as for the normal
service pension.

3. Age/Service Commuted

(a) Eligibility: Age 48 and 15 years of service.

(b) Benefit: Commencing at age 48 or 25 years elapsing
from full-time hire date, whichever is later; an annual

pension equal to 1.5% of the average annual salary
multiplied by the number of complete years of service.

B. Disability Retirement

Members who become unable to perform their official
duties and whose eaming capacities are impaired, may
qualify for disability retirement benefits.

Disability retirement benefits are classified as either
service-incurred (on-duty) or non-service-incurred (off-
duty), and differ in eligibility requirements and benefit
formulas. Annual medical evaluations are required for
disability benefit recipients who would not have met the
age and service requirements for normal service retirement.

I Permanent and Total Disability (On-Duty)

(a) Eligibility: No age or service requirement.

(b) Benefit: An annual pension equal to 72% of the annual
eamings during the last year of active service.

2. Partial disability (On-Duty)

(a) Eligibility: No age or service requircment.

(b) Benefit: An annual pension fixed by the Board of
Trustees to be a certain percent of the average annual salary
up to 60%. If the member has 25 or more years of service
the annual disability pension is equal to the accrued normal
service pension,

3. Ordinary Disability (Off-Duty)
(1) Eligibility: Any age and five years of service.
(b) Benefit: An annual pension fixed by the Board not to

exceed the accrued normal service pension, or 60% of the
average annual salary, whichever is less.

C. Rights upon separation from service

1. Deferred Pension

If a member meets the service credit requirement for any
service retirement pension but leaves service before
atlaining the required age, a pension becomes payable upon
attainment of the qualifying age.

2. Refund of contributions

Upon separation from service, a member can receive the
contributions made to the plan by himself or, on his behalf,
by his employer.
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D. Flat Survivor Benefits

1. Eligibility: Upon death of any member of the Fund,
active or retired.

2. Benefit:

(a) Surviving Spouse’s Benefit—An annual amount equal to
$4,920. Terminates upon remarriage or death,

(b) Surviving Child—An annual amount equal to $1,416,
payable until such child attains age 18 or marries,
whichever occurs first. The payment can continue to an
unmarried full-time student until age 22. A dependent
disabled child is entitled to a benefit regardless of age
at time of member's death until marriage, death, or
recovery.

(¢) Dependent Parents—If there be no surviving spouse or
children, an annual amount of $1,896 is payable to one
dependent parent or $948 each to two dependent
parents for life or until dependency ceases or
remarriage.

E. Lump Sumn Death Benefit

On the death of a retired member of the Fund, a lump sum
payment of one thousand dollars ($1,000) is paid to the
member’s surviving spouse, or the estate if there be no
surviving spouse.

E. Annuities

Effective February 28, 1980 for those retiring on either
service pensions or disability benefits, optional annuity
plans could be chosen. Members could elect actuarially
reduced benefits under life annuity certain and continuous
or joint and survivor annuity plans.

Effective for one year beginning September 26, 1984, any
member who retired before February 28, 1980 could cancel
his single life annuity plan and elect a joint and survivor
annuity plan continuing a portion of his reduced benefit to
his surviving spouse as survivor annuitant.

Effecti